

V I N N O VA R E P O R T V R 2006:15

PUBLIC E-SERVICES

A Value Model & Trends Based on a Survey

LARS ALBINSSON, OLOV FORSGREN, MIKAEL LIND & NICKLAS SALOMONSON Title: Public e-services - A Value Model & Trends Based on a Survey Author: Lars Albinsson, Olov Forsgren, Mikael Lind & Nicklas Salomonson Series: VINNOVA Report VR 2006:15 ISBN: 91-85084-67-0 ISSN: 1650-3104 Published: December 2006 Publisher: VINNOVA – Verket för Innovationssystem /Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation System Case No: 2006-01820

About VINNOVA

VINNOVA, the Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems, integrates research and development in technology, transport, communication and working life.

VINNOVA's mission is to promote sustainable growth by funding problem-oriented research and developing effective innovation systems.

Through its activities in this field, VINNOVA aims to make a significant contribution to Sweden's development into a leading centre of economic growth.

The VINNOVA Report series includes external publications and other reports from programmes and projects that have received funding from VINNOVA.

VINNOVA's publications are published at www.VINNOVA.se

I VINNOVAs publikationsserier redovisar bland andra forskare, utredare och analytiker sina projekt. Publiceringen innebär inte att VINNOVA tar ställning till framförda åsikter, slutsatser och resultat. Undantag är publikationsserien VINNOVA Policy som återger VINNOVAs synpunkter och ställningstaganden.

VINNOVAs publikationer finns att beställa, läsa och ladda ner via www.VINNOVA.se. Tryckta utgåvor av VINNOVA Analys, Forum och Rapport säljs via Fritzes, www.fritzes.se, tel 08-690 91 90, fax 08-690 91 91 eller order.fritzes@nj.se

Public e-services

A Value Model & Trends Based on a Survey

by

Lars Albinsson, Olov Forsgren, Mikael Lind & Nicklas Salomonson

September 2006

Contact: Lars Albinsson Calistoga Springs Research Institute lars@maestro.se

This report has been funded by VINNOVA, case no 2006-01820.

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Results from model-based analysis - using the e-diamond	8		
2	A Value model for e-services				
	2.1	Basic assumptions	12		
	2.2	E-services in the value model	13		
	2.3	Analysis of existing e-services according to the value model	14		
	2.4	Visions as critical phases in life	15		
	2.5	Feedback and stimulation of the development of new and refined e-			
		services	16		
	2.6	Conclusions and the application of the value model Conclusions			
		and the application of the value model	16		
3	Comments on trends in development of new types of e-				
	serv	vices	19		
	3.1	A stronger citizen/client/user perspective in the development	20		
	3.2	Web 2.0			
		3.2.1 Mash ups	22		
		3.2.2 RSS Feeds	22		
		3.2.3 SOA	22		
	3.3	Process Re-engineering	23		
4	Cor	nments on the need for support and further research	27		
	4.1	A strong community with IT-support	27		
	4.2	New types of marketplaces			
	4.3	The Citizen perspective as a driving force			
	4.4	Improved methods and approaches			
5	References		29		

1 Introduction

There are a lot of initiatives to launch new public e-services to citizens – both on national and on European levels (CapGemini, 2005). The 24/7-vision has become an important driving factor for this development. E-services can be characterized as being of varying complexity.

During the summer of 2006, 335 public e-services in Sweden were analyzed from four different perspectives. Underlying data was gathered using a questionnaire documenting the characteristics of each service as well as the service providers' experiences from the development and use of e-services. The 335 e-services where studied 1) in general and including aspects such as producer, functionality, etc. 2) by using the e-diamond model (Goldkuhl & Persson, 2006ab) for characterizing each e-service, 3) by using a new value model for evaluating e-services, and 4) in relation to contemporary trends in the development of new e-services.

In this report we will briefly present results from the first two perspectives. After this we will go into some detail concerning the value model and will finally make some remarks on e-services in relation to contemporary technical trends.

There are several frameworks for the purpose of design and evaluation of eservices. These frameworks highly emphasize different levels of complexity and maturity of e-services (such as information, interaction, transaction and integration). These frameworks are however driven from an organizational point of view where it seems that integration between different public authorities is desired. One could however question whether this is what different users (citizens, companies and other organizations) of e-services considers as important qualities.

We propose a new value-based framework for design and evaluation of e-services. It assumes that e-services are supposed to be of value for individual citizens and are therefore based on the interpretation of citizen values for a particular service.

Contemporary technical development has started to make new e-services possible. New trends, such as web 2.0 (c.f. O'Reilly, 2005), personalization etc. are concepts that put the client's needs first and are the basis for analysis and development.

The data material consisting of the 335 e-services is categorized as answers to the questionnaire. The general categories for each e-service are, among other aspects; name, target group, content, the need for identification (personal / non-personal), function, producer, co-operation between several organizations, in use / under development, used channels, and experiences.

Out of the 335 e-services, 65 of them are municipal e-services while 176 of them are produced by other public organizations, all of them directed toward citizens, customers and other users. The parenthesis appearing in the table means that these are in combination with other target groups, i.e. 22 e-services out of the 65 are aimed towards other target groups as well.

In the second part of the table there are some other categorizations made, for example that 53 % of the municipal e-services do not require any identification, while 52 % of the e-services produced by other public organizations require identification.

In the third part of the table the most common e-services in the data material are presented starting with libraries (for municipal e-services) and e-services regarding schools (for other public organizations).

Producer	Municipal e-services	Other public organizations'
larget group		e-services
Citizens, Customers, Users	65 (22)	176 (118)
Companies	17 (15)	123 (105)
Other public organizations,	15 (14)	121 (103)
county council, municipalities		
and organizations within		
public administration		
Internal e-services within an	10 (3)	36 (7)
organization		
Characterization		
Non-personal	53 %	39 %
Personal / non-personal	10 %	7 %
Personal	37 %	52 %
Active	86 %	79 %
In co-operation with other	45 %	41 %
organizations		
Mostly web-based	93 %	98 %
Most common		
Library	24	10
School	8	46
Living / housing	4	10
Labor market	3	7
Finance		32
Healthcare and medicine		19
Agriculture		9

1.1 Results from model-based analysis – using the ediamond

Before starting out with the model-based analysis, we looked into several different frameworks for categorizing the maturity level of e-services. We looked into Australian, Swedish and American frameworks for categorizing e-services. These frameworks emphasize different maturity steps named as information, interaction, transaction and integration. We did however take into consideration the criticism aimed towards these frameworks and put forward by Goldkuhl & Persson (2006b) and decided to use the so-called e-diamond model (ibid.) in order to arrive at a complementary view of the e-services represented in the data material.

In the e-diamond model three polarities are put forward. These are:

- 1 *Separate vs. coordinated e-services.* Separate e-services are such ones that only one authority is involved in producing. A coordinated e-service requires several authorities to be involved for supplying it.
- 2 *General vs. individual e-services.* General e-services are such ones that are aimed towards a general public, while individual e-services requires that the client becomes known to the producer / supplier of the e-service.
- 3 *Informative vs. performative e-services.* The informative dimension is only oriented towards the possibility for the client to study information supplied by the producer. In the performative dimension the client could act communicatively.

In the figure below the constituents of the e-diamond is put forward with the three polarities.

Figure 1: The basic constituents of the e-diamond model (from Goldkuhl & Persson, 2006ab)



By taking e-services and categorizing them in relation to each polarity we have categorized slightly more than 90 % of the e-services into different categories according to the e-diamond model. Figure 2 below reveals that 27 % out of the 335 e-services are informative and aimed towards a general public distributed by a single organization. 24 % out of the 335 e-services makes it possible for the client to perform communicative acts, requires identification and are distributed by a single organization. The last category (13 %) shown in figure 2 are distributed jointly by several organizations in which identification is required and that the client can perform communicative acts.

Figure 2: Different categories of the studied e-services according to the ediamond model



These three categories represent approx 65 % of the studied e-services. Three more categories (coordinated, general, and informative = 8 %, performative, individual, separate, general and informative = 7 %, performative, individual, separate, informative = 5 %) were also identified in this part of the analysis.

2 A Value model for e-services

The comprehensive view of the recipients of the e-services according to investigations made show a relatively even distribution aimed towards citizens, companies and authorities. The amount of e-services directed to citizens are slightly more than e-services directed towards companies (see figure 3).





More detailed information about the targeted clients and of what value the use of the e-services may be to them is however missing in the data material. Such knowledge would have given considerably better clues as to the needs of both development of new services and quality-driven development of already existing eservices.

In order to arrive closer to such knowledge we will introduce some thoughts which can be summarized in a value model foundation for e-services.

2.1 Basic assumptions

Our point of departure is the thought that citizens and private persons, in companies or in other organizations, strive towards creating better conditions and living situation for himself/herself. Such point of departure will consequently include those associations, companies and organizations which the individual is loyal to.

In striving towards this, the individual basically has three aspects to consider:

- What do I/we want to achieve? (The Vision)
- What does the situation look like today? (The current situation)
- By which means do I/we go from today in order to arrive at desired goals? (the means to change)

A rational individual should also be able to reflect over whether the situation has become better after the realization of the three first points.

This model could simply be described by an example from the healthcare sector.

Individuals strive towards a healthy situation (The vision).

Individuals can investigate if they have a Healthy situation (the current situation).

Individuals can use different treatments to come from where they are today and closer to a healthy ideal.

Finally, the individuals can also judge if the treatment really helped in reaching a healthier situation.

Similarly, we acknowledge companies who by the help/"treatment" of "professional doctors"/business consultants strive towards excellence and a leading position. We also see that public services strive towards excellence and efficiency.

The individual, the company and the organization has to:

• have a conception of desired goals (i.e. how healthy we can become)

- have an ability to acknowledge the present situation (i.e. how sick or healthy one/it is)
- identify and decide among different potential courses of action in order to arrive at desired goals (i.e. identify feasible treatment)
- reflect over the effect of decisions made and actions taken (i.e. effects of made treatments)

The underlying assumption in the value model is that individuals, companies and organizations able to reach and further develop their "vision of health" have created a higher value for himself/herself and his/her surroundings.

2.2 E-services in the value model

According to this framework it is possible to say that all offers that could contribute to a healthier situation for the individual and/or the company/organization could be described as an good e-service.

Offers could be about:

- 1 help in creating visions and ideal future scenarios of what could be worth striving for (future hope/vision/goal)
- 2 help in revealing understandings about the present situation (problem awareness)
- 3 help to go from the present situation to a desired future situation (measures)
- 4 feedback about how offers, actions and measures taken has contributed to the arrival at desired visions

One can wonder why we talk about e-services when this line of argumentation could relate to many different services. Our answer to this issue is however in line with several of the e-service maturity models formulated by other scholars and professionals (see section 3). According to these models several steps or states can be identified. These stages represent a scale; from distribution of information to integration of several authorities in which the client is able to interact with services. All services can accordingly be regarded as e-services.

2.3 Analysis of existing e-services according to the value model

Out of the 335 e-services, the 50 first e-services in the questionnaire were studied with respect to division of vision, present situation, and measures to achieve the vision according to the value model. In such an exposition we acknowledge that a majority of the services (32 %) represent measures while a minority of the services (4 %) represent support for arriving at the vision (see figure 4). We also acknowledge that only 12 % of the services include all three steps: This is what we want to achieve, here we are today and these are the measures that the service offers.

In many of the cases when some part(s) of the model are left out this/these omitted part(s) are taken for granted. As for the example of healthcare, one could say that information about painkillers consists of information relating to a cure to a present state of pain. Services regarding feedback and democracy are seldom represented and could potentially be an integrated part of the pinpointed services.

Figure 4: Categorization of the first 50 e-services according to the value model



Expanding on the healthcare example, it could be said that more complete services according to the value model is based on information of how one may feel given

the fact that pain killers are ingested, as well as of a battery of questions following in order to identify the correct type of pain. In addition, there is a description of the treatment, i.e. the pain medicine as such and how to use it.

If the value model is applied in a consultancy setting one would probably state that a competent medical worker helps the client in a systematic way to gain knowledge about and/or consider goals, the present situation and measures to achieve the goal(s). In more advanced cases there will also be some evaluation of actions already taken.

From this perspective one could say that more complete services according to the value model, could complement advice given by consultants in order to yield better service to their client.

2.4 Visions as critical phases in life

In many e-service models one could anticipate a perspective on the life cycle with critical phases such as birth, child care, compulsory school, university studies, sports, leisure time, work, marriage, divorce, sickness, and death. Translated into the value model these critical phases represent different visions. One wants to have a child, leading one to want baby sitters, etc. From such a perspective the visions behind existing e-services could be identified and thereby different clues concerning the need for new e-services could be identified. On the other hand, we also see that the used questionnaire reveals a picture of rapid expansion of new e-services. Such an effort to identify clues might therefore be of less value.

This conclusion is strengthened by the fact that the amount of private service providers rapidly increases within what we traditionally have regarded as public areas, such as in the health care area. In the value model there is no distinction made as to whether e-services are distributed by public authorities or private companies.

The municipal portals represent an interesting development since these to a higher extent try to cover the citizens' critical phases in life. A key question with regards to this attempt is how private service providers are allowed to be present in the portal. One can say that municipalities and authorities create a new type of market place for private and official service providers by making this possible.

2.5 Feedback and stimulation of the development of new and refined e-services

Even though we could not identify many services that allow for feedback, several municipal portals cover feedback services that aim to give input to new and refined e-services. Such services are often regarded as feedback leading to a learning experience for the organization. When the service covers a more extensive service influenced by several people the e-service is often regarded as a service aimed towards e-democracy.

2.6 Conclusions and the application of the value model

The value model makes it possible to view and measure e-services. The design of the value model is made with the purpose of contributing to a more valuable and qualitative development of e-services. According to the line of reasoning put forward above we claim that more complete e-services will contribute to more valuable e-services according to this model.

From this perspective the value model is a measure by which value can be achieved. However, it is as yet not possible to judge what the model is capable of. This can only be done when the value model is actually applied and results of such application are fed back into a reflective evaluation. We do however know that successful consultants act according to the basic principles of the value model.

The value model can also give us ideas for future developments of e-services. Among other things we see that:

1 It could be valuable to stimulate and evaluate e-services covering a comprehensive value model of vision, present situation, measures for arriving at the vision, and feedback.

- 2 It could be of value to stimulate and evaluate e-services integrating private and public service providers in order to maximize the value for clients of e-services.
- 3 Based on a value model, such as the one described here, we anticipate several new matching services in which goals, present situation and concrete measures are matched.
- 4 More complete e-services will according to the value model make it easier for individuals, companies and organizations to decide whether the service should be tried, tested and applied.

More generally, one could say that the exposure of an ever increasing amount of eservices makes it more vital to discover procedures which can examine the quality and value of those e-services.

3 Comments on trends in development of new types of e-services

Of the 335 e-services 228 have only a web interface. 90 have web interfaces and also support other channels. Only 14 of the e-services do not use the web as a channel. Today, there is intense development of new web e-services as well as alternatives to the traditional web. This is motivated by the overflow of websites and the difficulties users have in remembering them, their structures and passwords etc.

So far the dominating concept has been "the site", i.e. a place or a home page on the internet that users surf to and use. Today, there is an unending amount of such sites with one or more servers. This phenomenon is the target of for instance the e-Me Project. This research project has found that the huge numbers of online e-services in itself is becoming a problem for many citizens. At the same time, there is a significant demand for new e-services. This phenomenon is referred to as the Electronic Service Paradox. (Albinsson et al, 2006)

This paradox is the force behind a number of developments that deviates from the "site model". In the first part (section 5.1) we will present a necessary shift of perspective in e-service development and in the second part (section 5.2 and 5.3) we present a number of general trends in e-service development.

19% of the 170 surveyed services where the persons answering the questionnaire shared their experiences have commented on this area by discussing the problem of "reaching out to clients", or have shared the insight that their service exists in splendid isolation.

3.1 A stronger citizen/client/user perspective in the development

The dominating development models put the organization first and views the client as being exactly the client of that particular organization. This yields the possibility of discovering which of the organizations' e-services the client should/need/must use. The design can then be "user oriented" and in varying degree engage the clients in the design.

The limitation of such an approach is that it is at all times controlled in the context of the organization. One such example is from the EU fifth framework project Avanti, aiming to develop municipal e-services for those with no experience of computers, for instance elderly. (Mousalli, 2001). Interviews with the target group revealed that the most desired service was email. For people most this was the natural step into the e-world, as they wanted to be able to receive for instance photos of grand children. However, the project management of Avanti did not permit the development of such a service because email was not regarded as a municipal service. The example clearly indicates that even in such a "user oriented" project, the limits are set by the organization.

One step in a new direction is the development of joint-organization e-services, where a number of organizations collaborate on the development of a service that spans across these. A more far reaching project is the e-Me Project whose starting point is with a targets groups' ideals as well as their living situation and then uses this to put demands on the service development of organizations.

Does the survey support this thinking? There are a number of comments where collaborations are suggested and also the sharing of user demands. They have realized that there are other related or similar e-services. There are also comments relating to the difficulties of "reaching the users" and getting the users to use e-services.

Excerpts from" experiences" in the survey:

"We see the need for increased collaboration to be able to really put the citizen in the center of development" "Naming e-services, URLs and ways to find them is an underestimated field. We made the mistake of giving our service a somewhat cryptic and humorous name, from an internal standpoint. E-services should be named and given 'addresses' that are natural to the users."

"The challenge is not to web-enable existing e-services but rather to develop good, effective public e-services regardless of how the public sector is organized."

"Last but not least you shouldn't forget to market the new e-service. You can't assume that the e-service will automatically be used because it is there."

"There are many players in the portal market, fighting for attention and space."

"Marketing e-services and getting them used is costly. Common resources should be used and an overall strategy should be developed."

"Collaboration between public sector organizations to reach a particular target group may be very effective."

In the "organization centric" world common experiences would be used to duplicate or imitate e-services. In the new "citizen centric" world the similarities will lead to organizations developing common e-services for entire groups of citizens.

Our conclusion is that there is support for the new perspective in these comments, even if the respondents have expressed themselves from an "organization centric" point of view.

In the future they may start looking for other e-services their target groups need or want, both public and private, and try to connect them.

3.2 Web 2.0

WEB 2.0 is a collection of trends in Internet development that go beyond the traditional site-html-browser structure¹. Some of these are particularly relevant in this discussion:

3.2.1 Mash ups

A mash up is a website or web application that seamlessly combines content from more than one source into an integrated experience. One example could be a new site with a particular focus. The site will consist of articles from other sites on the same topic. The information is not copied, only linked into the site. Many shopping sites, for instance, do not contain their own payment service but rather links the purchase to a specialized payment service. The advantage is that the development is simplified, that things are not duplicated and that users may already be familiar with "mash uped" e-services.

3.2.2 RSS Feeds

RSS (Really Simple Syndication) is a standard for sending information to subscribers, as an alternative to having them go to a particular site. A university publishing test results on their site could offer students an RRS feed releasing results as soon as they are official without having to log on to the site. Users can control and also terminate subscriptions.

This gives the users advantages over for instance email, where the user can't subscribe to information and terminate subscriptions from their mail system.

3.2.3 SOA

SOA (Service Oriented Architecture) means that rather than build a complete system with data storage, business logic and user interfaces, a service should be built and used by other systems. For instance CSN (the Swedish National Board of Student Aid) give loans and grants to students and have their own complete system

¹ We don't detail these, but refer to for instance ex www.wikipedia.org

including a website for applications, etc. Using a SOA approach, they could develop merely the application management e-services and offer these as a regular type of loan as via retail banks. The student's bank would then manage the loan like any other. CSN could then dismantle their customer support centre, their call center and expensive web site.

The advantage is that only the unique parts of the system needs to be built and that it is possible to place existing infrastructure and portals in units.

There are many comments in the survey on the need for knowledge exchange on technical architectures as well as ideas on collaborative development. Some comments point at the high costs of developing a service from scratch, a service that may share many characteristics with other already existing e-services. The WEB 2.0 concepts are born out of similar experiences and even though WEB 2.0 didn't exist at the time the surveyed e-services were developed, the comments clearly indicate a need for corresponding development.

Excerpts from "experiences" in the survey:

"We have really seen the benefits of developing a common platform for many e-services. The platform is today used to developed many eservices and the cost of each is now very low."

"A small municipality doesn't have the resources to develop eservices on their own. We feel the need for more standardized tools and approaches for us to move on."

"e-identification would be very valuable to us, but we can't afford to implement it by ourselves."

3.3 Process Re-engineering

Several respondents indicate that they have discovered that many projects often involve more than just developing the e-service. In many cases the new e-service didn't fit as well into the organization, the routines and technology as expected. There simply wasn't any well defined process to put an "e" in front of. 19% of the 170 respondents commenting have experienced that the e-service also affects the organization in a larger perspective.

In business, a lot of time and energy is invested in re-engineering, structuring, and automating processes, which is an entire flow of activities, the last decade or so. The driving forces have often been increased quality and lower costs. In many cases this has created incentives for developing e-services, as it has been possible to connect them to existing and well defined processes.

What we now see is "e-ification" driving a new wave of process reviewing. Those not aware of the need to re-work an entire process, often scope the project too narrowly.

In the above mentioned Avanti project it also became evident that such process reviews vary, as the new demands on the process often rises from the outside clients. If they don't feel that the new service is more comfortable to use they will not use it. Therefore, the drive for changing processes should not be internal efficiency – but rather the client's point of view.

Excerpts from "experiences" in the survey:

"There is an incredible potential in applying a holistic perspective on the development. In spite of the technology, it is still a key issue to develop the processes and the organization."

"We see a need to refine our internal routines and systems before we can deliver e-services to the clients"

"The agency must change when developing e-services so you don't computerize paper-based routines."

"The entire flow needs to be adapted to the web; that is the back office routines must also be swift and automatic."

"Remember that digitizing and quality assuring information often takes more time and costs than the development of systems and applications." "Review your processes before development and implementation"

We conclude that the development of an e-service may need to affect the organization in more regards than just the client meeting the web site.

4 Comments on the need for support and further research

Taking this study and the results from other research we are involved in, we can see new areas that need to be highlighted and supported in future e-service development.

4.1 A strong community with IT-support

Both the respondents to this survey and elsewhere the need to share experiences, systems and solutions are pointed out. There are several communities of interest already started, for instance by the EU Commission. Some are somewhat successful while others disappear rather quickly. However, everyone seems to agree, that there is great potential in this area, both in lowering costs and increase in quality.

There is however a lack of common knowledge and experience in how to start and run such communities. This is an important field where several international initiatives are being launched, and should be supported financially.

4.2 New types of marketplaces

A lot of new "marketplaces" begin to establish themselves around public eservices. For instance portals produced by communities with common interests such as patients with similar medical diagnoses. Some companies are also starting to help people with public matters like building permits. In many countries there is an increased blurring of the borders between public and private e-services, for instance as public organizations are privatized. The Swedish Lantmäteriet (national land surveyors) is for example increasingly charging consulting fees for e-services previously regarded as a public service. There is today little research on these new marketplaces where public and private interests meet. In general, debates about these are often presented as marginal or problematic. In our opinion a lot of economic growth will occur in connection with these public/private marketplaces. Therefore research on how to make them work effectively is of great value.

4.3 The Citizen perspective as a driving force

Present day research and development is dominated by an organization-centric perspective; e-services are designed by an organization and then offered to the citizens. Concurrently we see examples of a new development where design takes it starting point in the citizen. We think this new type of development should be followed and encouraged more. The Swedish Vinnova programme for e-services crossing organizational borders is a step in this direction. We would however like to point out that even the majority of the projects are driven by organizations and the e-services contexts are set by them. There are no explicit requirements for these projects to be dominated by the citizen's interests. There is very little research into what a public sector would look like if it was designed with citizens at the centre. We would like to see work on this in which would also indicate future possibilities.

4.4 Improved methods and approaches

As pointed out by many respondents' current methods and practices these are insufficient to secure citizen participation in the design of, and influence over, public e-services. For example, we can foresee a future merging of methods for eservice design and processes for e-democracy. Current research is dominated by a differentiation; that design of e-services is regarded as a task for public organizations, while e-democracy is about design of policy. We see a need for research where design and development of e-services is viewed in context of learning and e-democracy.

5 References

- O'REILLY T. (2005) What Is Web 2.0 Design Patterns and Business Models for the Next Generation of Software, Available at http://www.oreillynet.com/pub/a/oreilly/tim/news/ 2005/09/30/what-is-web-20.html.
- MOUSALLI, A., & et al. (2001). Avanti IST-2000-28585.: EU IST 5 RP.
- ALBINSSON, L., FORSGREN O., LIND M.. (2006) *E-Me Stories and Scenarios The Ideal Electronic Galaxy of the Student*. ISBN-13: 978-91-9013-1 School of Business and Informatics, University College of Borås.
- CAP GEMINI (2005) eEurope, Online Availability Of Public Services: How Is Europe Progressing?, (EC with Cap Gemini), Available at: http://europa.eu.int/information_society/eeurope/2005/doc/all_about/ online_availability_public_services_5th_measurement_fv4.PDF.
- GOLDKUHL G., PERSSON A. (2006a) *From e-ladder to e-diamond reconceptualising models for public e-services*, accepted to European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS'2006), Gothenburg University.
- GOLDKUHL G., PERSSON A. (2006b) *Characteristics of Public E-services: Investigating the E-diamond Model*, accepted to the First International Pragmatic Web Conference (PragWeb06), 21-23 September 2006, Stuttgart, Germany.

VINNOVA's publications

December 2006

See www.vinnova.se for more information

VINNOVA Analysis VA 2006:

- 01 End of an era? Governance of Swedish innovation policy. For Swedish version see VA 2005:07
- 02 Forskning och utveckling vid små och medelstora företag. Only available as PDF
- 03 Innovationsinriktad samverkan. Only available as PDF
- 04 Teknikbaserat nyföretagande i Sverige 1990 2003. Only available as PDF
- 05 Offentligt stöd till universitetens samverkansuppgift en internationell kartläggning. Only available as PDF
- 06 Inkubatorer i Sverige analys av indikatordimensioner och nyttoefektivitet. Only available as PDF

VA 2005:

- 01 Wood Manufacture the innovation system that beats the system. For Swedish version see VA 2004:02
- 02 Nationella och regionala klusterprofiler Företag inom bioteknik, läkemedel och medicinsk teknik i Sverige 2004
- 03 Innovation policies in South Korea and Taiwan. Only available as PDF
- 04 Effektanalys av nackskadeforskningen vid Chalmers -Sammanfattning. Brief version of VA 2004:07, for brief version in English see VA 2005:05
- 05 Impacts of neck injuries research at Chalmers University of Technology - Summary. Brief version of VA 2004:07, for brief version in Swedish see VA 2005:04
- 06 Forskningsverksamhet inom produktframtagning i Sverige - en ögonblicksbild år 2004
- 07 En lärande innovationspolitik samordning och samverkan? For English version see VA 2006:01
- 08 Svensk trafiksäkerhetsforskning i tätposition Framträdande forskare och forskningsmiljöer i statligt finansierad trafiksäkerhetsforskning 1949 - 2005

VA 2004:

- 01 The Swedish National Innovation System 1970-2003 a quantitative international benchmarking analysis
- 02 Trämanufaktur det systembrytandeinnovationssystemet. For English version see VA 2005:01
- 03 Impacts of the Swedish Competence Centres Programme 1995-2003. For brief versions in English and Swedisxh see VA 2004:05 and VA 2004:06
- 04 Telecom Dynamics History and State of the Swedish Telecom Sectors and its Innovation System 1970-2003. Final Report. Only available as PDF
- 05 Impacts of the Swedish Competence Centres Programme 1995-2003 - Summary Report. Brief version of VA 2004:03. For brief version in Swedish see VA 2004:06
- 06 Effekter av det svenska kompetenscentrum-programmet 1995-2003 - Sammanfattande rapport. Brief version in Swedish of VA 2004:03, for brief version in English see VA 2004:05
- 07 Effektanalys av nackskadeforskningen vid Chalmers. For brief versions in Swedish and English see VA 2005:04 and VA 2005:05

VINNOVA Forum VFI 2004:

- 01 Informationssamhället åter till framtiden (Innovation policy in Focus)
- 02 Svensk innovationskraft visionen måste vara starkare än motståndet (Innovation policy in Focus)

VINNOVA Information VI 2006:

- 01 VINNOVAs verksamhet inom Transporter. For English version see VI 2006:07
- 02 Årsredovisning 2005
- 03 Paving the Road. For Transport Innovation and Research
- 04 Drivkraft för tillväxt. VINNOVA 2005. For English version see VI 2006:08
- 06 VINNVÄXT Ett program som sätter fart på Sverige! For English version see VI 2006:15
- 07 VINNOVA's activities within the Transport Sector. For Swedish version see VI 2006:01
- 08 A driving Force for Growth. VINNOVA 2005. For Swedish version see VI 2006:04
- 09 Komplexa sammansatta produkter Projektkatalog 2006
- 10 VINNVINN Mötesarena för nya affärsmöjligheter och arbetstillfällen
- 13 VINNOVA's activities in Biotechnology
- 14 Arbetslivsutveckling VINNOVAs satsningar inom arbetslivsområdet
- 15 VINNVÄXT A programme to get Sweden moving! For Swedish version see VI 2006:06
- 16 Competence Centres in Figures Kompetenscentrum i siffror
- 17 E-tjänster i offentlig verksamhet. For English version see VI 2006:18
- 18 E-Services in Public Administration. For Swedish version see VI 2006:17
- 19 Effektiv Produktframtagning Projektkatalog 2006

VI 2005:

- 02 Årsredovisning 2004
- 03 VINNOVA För ett innovativt Sverige! For English version see VI 2005:06
- 04 DYNAMO -Beskrivningar av de 18 projekt som ingår i programmet
- 05 Den dubbla vinsten. VINNOVA 2004
- 06 VINNOVA For an innovative Sweden! For Swedish version see VI 2005:03
- 08 Swedish research for growth. A VINNOVA magazine
- 09 Kunskapsbildning och organisering Ett program för förnyelse och innovation
- 10 Innovationsprocesser i Norden Ett program för organisering av utvecklingsarbete med bred medverkan. Only available as PDF

VI 2004:

- 01 Årsredovisning 2003
- 04. VINN EXCELLENCE CENTER. For English version see VI 2004:05

- 05 VINN EXCELLENCE CENTRES. For Swedish version see VI 2004:04
- 08 The Swedish Competence Centres Programme. Third International Evaluation - Group 2-6 (19 Centres) and Overall Impressions and Programme-wide Issues.

VINNOVA Policy VP 2006:

- 01 På spaning efter innovationssystem. For English version see VP 2006:02
- 02 In search of innovation systems. For Swedish version see VP 2006:01

VP 2005:

- 01 Kunskap för säkerhets skull. Förslag till en nationell strategi för säkerhetsforskning. For English version see VP 2005:03
- 02 Strategi för tillväxt Bioteknik, en livsviktig industri i Sverige
- 03 Knowledge to safeguard security. Proposals for a national strategy for security research. For Swedish version see VP 2005:01
- 04 Produktionsteknik & Fordonstelematik. Förslag till FoUprogram
- 05 VINNOVA's views on the European Commission's proposal for the Seventh Framework Programme on Research & Technological Development 2007 - 2013. Position paper

VP 2004:

01 Nationell strategi för transportrelaterad FUD

VINNOVA Report VR 2006:

- 01 Det förbisedda jämställdhetsdirektivet. Text- och genusanalys av tre utlysningstexter från VINNOVA
- 02 VINNOVAs FoU-verksamhet ur ett jämställdhetsperspektiv. Yrkesverksamma disputerade kvinnor och män i VINNOVAs verksamhetsområde
- 03 ASCI: Improving the Agricultural Supply Chain Case Studies in Uppsala Region. Only available as PDF
- 04 Framtidens e-förvaltning. Scenarier 2016. For English version see VR 2006:11
- 05 Elderly Healthcare, Collaboration and ICT enabling the Benefits of an enabling Technology. *Only available as PDF*
- 06 Framtida handel utveckling inom e-handel med dagligvaror
- 07 Tillväxt stavas med tre T
- 08 Vad hände sen? Långsiktiga effekter av jämställdhetssatsningar under 1980- och 90-talen
- 09 Optimal System of Subsidization for Local Public Transport. Only available as PDF
- 10 The Development of Growth oriented high Technology Firms in Sweden. Only available as PDF
- 11 The Future of eGovernment Scenarios 2016. For Swedish version see VR 2006:04
- 12 Om rörlighet DYNAMO-programmets seminarium 12 - 13 juni 2006
- 13 IP-telefoni En studie av den svenska privatmarknaden ur konsument- & operatörsperspektiv
- 14 The Innovation Imperative Globalization and National Competitiveness
- 15 Public e-services A Value Model and Trends Based on a Survey

VR 2005:

- 01 Effektivt arbete i processindustrin Hur man gör. Från strategi till genomförande
- 02 Teori och metod för val av indikatorer för inkubatorer. Only available as PDF
- 03 Informations- och kommunikationsteknik i USA. En översiktsstudie om satsningar och trender inom politik, forskning och näringsliv.
- 04 Information and Communications Technology in Japan. A general overview on the current Japanese initiatives and trends in the area of ICT.
- 05 Information and Communications Technology in China. A general overview of the current Chinese initiatives and trends in the area of ICT.
- 06 Hälsa & lärande. Frågor för hälso- och sjukvårdssystemet
- 07 Samhandling för innovationsledd tillväxt
- 08 Tekniköverföring från landbaserade fordon till mindre fartyg - fas 1. Only available as PDF
- 09 Nya emissionskrav för dieselmotorer en katalysator för svensk industri? Only available as PDF
- 10 Samarbete mellan KTH och kringliggande industriforskningsinstitut - nuläge och utvecklingsmöjligheter
- 11 ICT-based Home Healthcare. Only available as PDF.
- 12 Kompetensutveckling i små och medelstora företag SMF. En kvalitativ studie av konferensdeltagares utsagor
- 13 The KTH Entrepreneurial Faculty Project
- 14 OLD@HOME Technical Support for Mobile Close Care. Final Report. Only available as PDF
- 15 Värdeskapande innovationsmiljöer

VR 2004:

- 01 Nya material och produkter från förnyelsebara råvaror. En framtidsbild och vägen dit. For short version see VR 2004:02
- 02 Nya material och produkter från förnyelsebara råvaror. Short version of VR 2004:01
- 03 Evaluation of the NUTEK-VINNOVA programme in Complex Technical Systems 1997-2001. Utvärdering av ett FoU-program i Komplexa Tekniska System 1997-2001
- 04 Förnuft och känsla en narrativ studie om äldre kvinnors bilkörning. Only available as PDF
- 05 Equipment for Rational Securing of Cargo on Railway Wagons. Utrustning för rationell säkring av last på järnvägsvagnar (jvgRASLA). Only available as PDF
- 06 Innovationspolitik för ITS. En studie av aktörsnätverk kring Intelligenta TransportSystem. *Only available as PDF*
- 07 Svensk forskning rik på upplevelser. Only available as PDF
- 08 Fånga Vinden! en klokbok för tillväxt
- 09 Utvärdering av det Nationella Flygtekniska Forskningsprogrammet
- 10 Forskning och Innovation i Småföretag. SBIR Small Business Innovation Research. Ett amerikanskt program för behovsmotiverad forskning utförd av mindre företag
- 11 Arbetsgivarringar i Sverige förekomst, funktion och nytta
- 12 Evaluation of the Öresund contracts for cross-border R&D cooperation between Denmark and Sweden
- 13 Det öppna svenska innovationssystemet en tillgång för Sverige?

Production: VINNOVA's Communication Division Printed by: EkonomiPrint AB, www.ekonomiprint.se December 2006



VINNOVA's mission is to promote sustainable growth by funding problem-oriented research and developing effective innovation systems

VERKET FÖR INNOVATIONSSYSTEM - SWEDISH GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY FOR INNOVATION SYSTEMS

VINNOVA, SE-101 58 Stockholm, Sweden Besök/Office: Mäster Samuelsgatan 56 Tel: +46 (0)8 473 3000 Fax: +46 (0)8 473 3005 VINNOVA@VINNOVA.se www.VINNOVA.se